
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Planning Committee

Members of the Planning Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend 
a meeting to be held in the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on 
Wednesday, 29 September 2021 at 7.00 pm when the business specified in the following agenda 
is proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 10)

3. Declarations of Interest 
To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is.  Any declared interest will fall into one of the following 
categories:

A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest which has been or should have been 
declared to the Monitoring Officer, and in respect of which the member 
must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in question;

An Other Significant Interest under the Code of Conduct and in respect of 
which the member must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in 
question unless exercising the right of public speaking extended to the 
general public;

A voluntary announcement of another interest not falling into the above 
categories, made for reasons of transparency.



4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or the items in Part B (if any) in Public 

5. Planning applications for determination by the Committee 

a) 20210791 - 6 Sheppy Place, Gravesend DA12 1BT (Pages 11 - 18) 

Construction of a side wall between no. 6 and no. 5 Sheppy Place.

b) 20210738 - 93 Rochester Road Gravesend Kent DA12 2HU (Pages 19 - 36) 

Creation of a vehicle access and hard standing to front.  

c) 20210634 - 28 Tennyson Walk, Northfleet DA11 8LR (Pages 37 - 54) 

Erection of a single storey rear extension and erection of a new two 
storey house attached to the side of the existing dwelling.

6. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the Director 
(Planning & Development) 

A copy of the schedule has been placed in the democracy web library 
and also in the Reception, Civic Centre: - http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ.

7. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

8. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B

Items likely to be considered in Private

None.

Members

Cllr Brian Sangha (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Brian Francis
Gary Harding
Samir Jassal
Bob Lane
Emma Morley
Elizabeth Mulheran
Tony Rice

http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ
http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ


Substitutes: To be notified



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Wednesday, 01 September 2021 7.00 pm

Present:

Cllr Brian Sangha (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Aaron Elliott 
Brian Francis
Samir Jassal 
Bob Lane
Jordan Meade  
Emma Morley 
Elizabeth Mulheran 

Jan Guyler Head of Legal Shared Services 
Shazad Ghani Service Manager (Planning) 
Richard Hart Team Leader (Development Management)
Ben Clarke Committee Services Officer (Minutes)
Julie Francis-Beard Committee Services Officer (Minutes) 
18. Apologies for absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Tony Rice and Cllr Gary Harding. 

Cllr Aaron Elliott and Cllr Jordan Meade substituted. 

19. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on Wednesday, 21 July 2021 
were signed by the Chair.

20. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Sangha declared a significant interest in respect of item 5C - 20210870 12B Lennox 
Road, Gravesend, Kent as he was the applicant for the planning application. Cllr Sangha 
agreed to leave the meeting for the duration of the item and Cllr Craske would act as Chair 
in his stead. 

Cllr Mulheran declared an interest as she was the Ward Councillor for Dover Road East. 

Cllr Craske declared an interest on behalf of all Members on the Committee as the applicant 
Brian Sangha was known to the Committee. 

21. Planning applications for determination by the Committee 

21.1 20210441 - Land East Of 58 Dover Road Five Ash Road Gravesend Kent 

The Committee considered application reference 20210441 in relation to land east of 58 
Dover Road Five Ash Road Gravesend Kent. The application was for outlined planning 

Page 5 Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee 1.09.2021

2

permission with all matters reserved and being for the erection of a pair of semi-detached 
dwellings, with associated parking, landscaping and access.

The Team Leader (Development Management) informed Members that he would present 
a joint presentation for items 5a and 5b to avoid replicating information for each item but 
reminded Members that they will then need consider each application separately on their 
own merits

The Team Leader (Development Management) brought Members attention to an 
additional comment received from the applicant on 01 September 2021 in which the 
applicant, Sean Tofts, advised that one of the neighbour’s objection letters had not been 
correctly portrayed in the report. One of the neighbour’s objection letters was not entirely 
against the application and the applicant had advised that the letter indicated support for 
the application. 

The Team Leader (Development Management) read aloud the neighbours letter to the 
Committee and conceded that it should be determined as a neutral statement as whilst 
the application would prefer to not see the site developed no objection was raised subject 
to garages not having access blocked. The Team Leader (Development Management) 
apologised to the Committee if it was not made clear in the report.  

The Team Leader (Development Management) advised that the applicant was also willing to 
offer a condition on lighting the alleyway in the event Members were minded to approve the 
schemes. Furthermore, the applicant raised some non-material planning considerations 
which would not be considered. 

The Team Leader (Development Management) introduced applications 5a and 5b to the 
Committee and highlighted key points from the reports. 

The Committee were informed that the recommendation from Planning Officers was for 
Members to refuse the application as it was considered that the adverse impacts of the 
development would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed 
against the policies in the (NPPF) 2021 and established local policy taken as a whole. The 
full list of reasons for the recommendation for refusal could be found on pages 28-29 of the 
report for application 5a and found on page 46 of the report for application 5b.  

In response to a Members question, the Chair confirmed that an email addressed to all 
Committee Members, was received from the applicant at 18:31pm this evening but as the 
information wasn’t received in time to be published into the public domain it would not 
form part of any of the deliberations tonight. Members asked questions of clarification to 
the Team Leader (Development Management), and he explained that: 

 The plans, including the garden sizes were indicative only, the Team Leader 
(Development Management) pointed out on the presentation slide where the black lines 
identified the boundaries of the garden sizes. The conclusion from the Team Leader 
(Development Management), was that the gardens were sub-standard in size; therefore, 
the email from the applicant advising that his own systems measurements of the gardens 
were larger than indicated in the report was considered incorrect

 If access to a site was too restricted for a fire engine to enter then Building Control would 
require other fire safety measures such as the installation of sprinklers. With this 
application, the access was restricted but in the worst-case scenario there was access to 
the site from the west through Five Ash Road for fire crews to reach the development. 

Page 6



Planning Committee 1.09.2021

3

Gravesham Highways Officer had indicated that they raise no objection to the highways 
layout for the development.

 All material planning considerations for any planning applications had weight and were 
important to consider when making a decision on the application however non-material 
considerations such as increasing/decreasing house prices cannot be taken into 
account.

 With regard to the garden sizes in the indicative plan, one dwellings garden was 
measured at 26.5 square metres and the second dwellings garden was measured at 
25.4 square metres; the measurements were taken from the submitted PDF plans. There 
was a degree of flexibility with the black line for the gardens, but it was felt that the 
development did not offer acceptable living consideration for future occupiers. It was 
noted that the plans were indicative. . 

 As outlined in 6.18 of the report, it was correct that the planned westerly dwelling did not 
meet the minimum requirements of 79sqm for a 2 bed, 4 person dwelling as well as 
2sqm of built-in storage. As such, it was felt that development on the site could not be 
accommodated.

 The Team Leader (Development Management) confirmed to the Committee that the 
planning application had been determined as any other planning application would have 
been and the same software was used for measuring plans. Unfortunately, a scale bar 
was not included for the proposed block of land, but it still measured correctly in the 
programme. With regards to rooms with double beds, they would be considered double 
bedrooms, so the case officer was correct in determining the room sizes. 

 The public right of way and the lighting on the boundary of the site was not included 
within the redline boundary and the Council could not put a condition on land outside the 
redline boundary.

 The vehicular access to the site is an overgrown piece of land which is unregistered; 
appropriate notice has been served as part of the planning application, but no one came 
forward as the owner of the land. However, there was no guarantee that the landowner 
wouldn’t come forward at any point during the future; civil processes would have to be 
pursued if planning permission was approved for the development in relation to 
ownership of the alley. 

The Committee heard the views of a public speaker in favour of the application. 

Following the address by the public speaker, Members had their questions answered: 

 The planning application was submitted in outline so that if any issues arose then 
they could be addressed at the Planning Committee. For examples, the concerns 
raised about surveillance could be addressed by adding windows to the utilities room 
or kitchen/dining area which would increase the amount of surveillance already there. 
The applicant was agreeable to conditions being added to the application for 
increased surveillance measures to be added 

 The applicant did not engage with the Council in the pre planning application process 
as he felt that the site was generally viewed as a negative area and was recognised 
as in need of development. The applicant disagreed with the measurements outlined 
by the Planning Officers; the measurements taken by the applicant were, in his 
opinion, correct and exceeded the national minimum space standards  

 Whilst the applicant did not engage with the Planners and did not go through the pre 
application process, the system portal had asked if the applicant had received any 
previous advice which he had; that was the reason why there was a reference 
number for that portals advice

Page 7



Planning Committee 1.09.2021

4

 The applicant acknowledged that the plans included double beds in the bedrooms, 
but they were indicative plans only and the Committee was reminded the rooms 
could be used for single occupancy as many single people slept in double beds 
rather than single beds  

 With regards to concerns over the developments appearance not keeping in line with 
the local area, the proposed houses were facsimiles of Victorian terraced houses but 
there were already a number of mixed styles in the area. The applicant advised that 
the plans were indicative only and was agreeable to any style changes that was felt 
was needed for the proposed development to keep them in line with the local area 

 In hindsight, the application could have been submitted in full rather than in outline, 
but the applicant felt that the same discrepancies would have been raised; Members 
attention was drawn to the fact that similar schemes in the area had been granted 
permission by the Council 

The Committee debated the planning application, its positives/negatives and the points 
raised during the public speaker presentation. Concern was raised regarding garden 
sizes, bedroom sizes, vehicular access, overshadowing on the gardens, lack of amenity 
space, potential for anti-social behaviour in the adjacent alleyway, possible increased 
dangers to women and lack of pre application engagement with the Planning Team.  

The Chair summed up the details of the application, concerns raised by Members, the 
main objections that were originally raised, the applicant’s evidence, the Council’s duty of 
presumption in favour of development if the application was policy compliant, maintaining 
a balance on individual planning applications and the difficulties in determining an outline 
application. The Chair explained that the planning application could be revisited but it 
would need to go through the thorough pre application engagement process with the 
Councils Planning Team. 

Resolved that the application be REFUSED. 

Note: (a) Mr Sean Tofts (Applicant – in favour) addressed the Committee.

21.2 20210442 - Land East Of 58 Dover Road Five Ash Road Gravesend Kent 

The Committee considered the application 20210442 in relation to land east of 58 Dover 
Road Five Ash Road Gravesend Kent. The application was for outline planning permission 
with all matters reserved and being for the erection of a detached dwelling, with associated 
parking, landscaping, and access.

As the Team Leader (Development Management) had already included item 5b – 20210442 
in his presentation during the previous item, the Chair queried if there were any separate 
issues that Members needed to be made aware of. 

The Team Leader (Development Management) advised that the application was largely the 
same with the key difference being there was only one proposed family dwelling with a larger 
garden, but access and overshadowing were still an issue. 

The Committee were informed that the recommendation from Planning Officers was for 
Members to refuse the application as it was considered that the adverse impacts of the 
development would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed 
against the policies in the (NPPF) 2021 and established local policy taken as a whole. The 

Page 8



Planning Committee 1.09.2021

5

full list of reasons for the recommendation for refusal could be found on page 46 of the 
report. 

The Committee heard the views of a public speaker in favour of the application. 

Following the address by the public speaker, Members had their questions answered:

 The applicant agreed with the Chair that each application should be decided on its 
own merits; the applicant informed the Committee that he had only spoken of similar 
schemes that had received permission in Gravesham as they were infill sites similar 
to the site being discussed and were a fair comparison to the application that was 
proposed 

 The proposed 1.8 metre fence was not critical, and the applicant was agreeable to it 
being shortened; some of the challenges the area currently faced included vermin, fly 
tipping and anti-social behaviour. The development, proposed fence and proposed 
bay windows that faced the alleyway, thus increasing surveillance, should alleviate 
some of those issues. The applicant challenged the concern that vulnerable groups 
such as women would be in more danger than they currently were as the proposed 
development had bay windows facing the alley and cameras could be installed on the 
houses whereas there was currently no surveillance at the site 

The Committee debated the planning application, its positives/negatives and the points 
raised during the public speakers presentation. The Committee raised similar concerns to 
the ones raised in application 5a. Particular concern was raised by a Member that the 
officers reason for refusal were not as strong as in previous applications although it was 
acknowledged that there were still issues with the amount of detail provided by the applicant 
and the lack of prior engagement with the Planning Team.  

The Chair acknowledged that the reasons given for refusal may not be equally weighted but 
maintained that the lack of detail and planning policy compliancy were important issues 
when considering balance and the presumption in favour of development. 

Resolved that the application be REFUSED. 

Note: (a) Mr Sean Tofts (Applicant – in favour) addressed the Committee  

21.3 20210870 - 12B Lennox Road, Gravesend, Kent 

The Chair left the meeting for the duration of this item and Cllr Craske took over as Chair in 
his stead.   

The Committee considered the application 20210870 in relation to 12B Lennox Road, 
Gravesend, Kent. The application was for non-material amendment to planning permission 
reference number 20191027 to allow a change of fenestration to the rear elevation.

The Team Leader (Development Management) introduced the application to the 
Committee and highlighted key points from the report. Member’s attention was drawn to 
the fact that it was a non-material amendment of changing a door to a window and had no 
impact on the area or future occupiers.  

The Committee were informed that the recommendation from Planning Officers was for 
Members to permit the application. 

Page 9



Planning Committee 1.09.2021

6

The Team Leader (Development Management) fielded questions from Members and 
explained that: 

 The removal of the door did not hinder access or create any fire safety issues as the 
extension was open plan and there was still a door to the left of the proposed window 

 There was a typo on page 52; the incorrect planning application reference number 
was listed which the Team Leader (Development Management) agreed to amend. 

Resolved that the application be PERMITTED.  

22. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the 
Director (Planning & Development) 

A schedule showing applications determined by the Director (Environment) under delegated 
powers had been published on the Council’s website.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 20:10pm. 

Page 10



SUMMARY REPORT

Application Ref: 20210791

Site Address: 6 Sheppy Place, Gravesend DA12 1BT
Application 
Description: Construction of a side wall between no. 6 and no. 5 Sheppy Place.

Applicant: Michael Wojcik

Agent: N/A

Ward: Pelham

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision due date: 16 August 2021

Decision Level: Planning Committee – Wednesday 1 September 2021

Reason for referral: Called in by Cllr Wallace due to concerns regarding the impact on 
the Conservation Area

Recommendation: Approval with conditions
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

Summary of Reasons for Recommendations

1. The proposed wall, subject to a condition relating to the use of materials, is considered 
to preserve the appearance and character of the Conservation Area and therefore 
accords with Policies CS19 and CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
2014, Policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan 1994 and Section 16 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2021.

____________________________________________________________________________

MAIN REPORT

1. Site Description and Surroundings

1.1. The application site is a two storey, semi detached property with a low boundary wall 
with railings to the front and side.  The front and side garden is laid to paving and there 
are some conifers along the boundary with no. 5.  To the side is a wall approx. 2m in 
height with a gate leading to the rear garden.  This wall is pebble dashed and painted 
white which matches the house.  The front door is located to the side and has a canopy 
over which is a feature within the street scene.

1.2. The application site is located within the Upper Windmill Street Conservation Area.  This 
is subject to an Article 4 direction that removes permitted development rights, including 
under Class 2, where development fronts a highway.  Case law is not clear when it 
comes to the definition of ‘fronting a highway’.  Generally speaking development not 
fronting a highway would be set back by around 1m.  In this case, the purpose of the 
Article 4 direction is to protect the character and appearance of the Conservation Area.  
The proposed wall is 1.2m in height adjacent to the footpath and therefore requires 
planning permission.

Page 11 Agenda Item 5a



Boundary between 6 and 5 Sheppy Place, Gravesend (Google Street View, September 
2021)

2. Planning History

2.1. None

3. Proposal

3.1. Construction of a side wall between no. 6 and no. 5 Sheppy Place.  The applicant 
initially sought permission for a fence, however, during the course of determining the 
planning application, concerns were raised by Officers regarding the use of materials, 
and the applicant responded to these concerns by amending the proposal to a wall.  
There was also confusion about the ownership of the boundary between no. 5 and no. 6 
and so the applicant amended the plans to show the wall located adjacent to the 
boundary on the side of no. 6 (in red):

Page 12



4. Planning Policy, Development Plan and other Material Considerations

4.1. The relevant polices for this proposal are as follows:

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014)
• CS01 – Sustainable Development
• CS02 – Scale & Distribution of Development
• CS12 – Green Infrastructure
• CS19 - Design & Development Principles
• CS20 – Heritage and the Historic Environment

4.2. Paragraph 33 of the (NPPF) (2021) sets out those policies within adopted local plans 
should be reviewed to assess whether they need updating at least once every five 
years, and should then be updated as necessary.  Such reviews are also a legal 
requirement as set out in Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) England Regulations 2012.

4.3. The Council undertook such a review in September 2019 and the review found that the 
adopted Local Plan Core Strategy (LPCS) is in need of a partial review in terms of 
Policy CS02 (LPCS) due to the increased need for housing since the Local Plan Core 
Strategy was adopted and the need to ensure a sufficient land supply exists to meet this 
need. Whilst saved policies from the Local Plan 1st Review (1994) generally conform 
with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), the Council will also seek to 
replace these saved policies via the emerging Local Plan.

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994)
• TC3 – Development Affecting Conservation Areas

National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
•   Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
•   Section 4 – Decision-making
•   Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places
•   Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
• Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

Supplementary Planning Guidance
• Upper Windmill Street Conservation Area Character Appraisal

5. Consultations and Publicity Responses 

Consultees

Conservation Officer

5.1. The plans are acceptable providing the top of the wall has a plain brick on edge with no 
creasing tile and subject the brick sample being approved.  It is advisable to use a 
Wienerberger Smeed Dean London Stock brick.

Neighbouring properties

5.2. The application was advertised on site, in the press and by individual letters to 11 
neighbouring properties.  Three letters of objection have been received (to the fence):
Main concerns:
- The fence is out of character in appearance and height
- The height will make the entrance to no. 5 darker, especially at night

Page 13



- The fence will cause a blind spot when exiting the property

Service Manager (Planning) Comments

Principle 

5.3. The application site is located within the urban area where the principle of development 
is acceptable providing it meets the criteria of the Policies listed below.

Character, Appearance and Impact on the Conservation Area

5.4. The application site is located within the Upper Windmill Street Conservation Area.  This 
is subject to an Article 4 direction that removes permitted development rights, including 
under Class 2, where development fronts a highway.  Case law is not clear when it 
comes to the definition of ‘fronting a highway’.  Generally speaking development not 
fronting a highway would be set back by around 1m.  In this case, the purpose of the 
Article 4 direction is to protect the character and appearance of the Conservation Area.  
The proposed wall is 1.2m in height adjacent to the footpath and therefore requires 
planning permission.

5.5. The application site is a two storey, semi detached property with a low boundary wall 
with railings to the front and side.  The front and side garden is laid to paving and there 
are some conifers along the boundary with no. 5.  To the side is a wall approx. 2m in 
height with a gate leading to the rear garden.  This wall is pebble dashed and painted 
white which matches the house.  The front door is located to the side and has a canopy 
over which is a feature within the street scene.

5.6. There are a mixture of materials visible in the street however most are low boundary 
walls or railings.  Opposite the site are the rear accesses of the flats and houses located 
on Windmill Street.

6 Sheppy Place, Gravesend (Google Street View, September 2021)

Page 14



5.7. The Upper Windmill Street Conservation Area Appraisal lists the site as ‘Character Area 
3:  Zion Place, Sheppy Plane and Victoria Avenue’.  The buildings here are pairs of 
dwellings built by William wood for his workmen.  They are of a simple form; each house 
is of a single bay with a square-headed sash window at each floor and with the entrance 
concealed on the returning elevation.  They are of predominately yellow brick, although 
most have been rendered, applied as a banded rustication at ground floor level.  
Negative features are listed to include loss of architectural features such as doors and 
windows; loss of front garden areas, boundary walls and railing to create vehicle parking 
areas (Zion Place).

5.8. The proposal relates only to the side boundary.  The existing front wall and railings will 
remain (although it is noted that these are not original).  The proposal for a brick wall to 
the side, provided it is finished in an appropriate brick which can be conditioned, on 
balance is considered to preserve the character and appearance of the Conservation 
Area.  The highest part of the wall will not be visible in the wider street scene and would 
only be visible in the immediate vicinity of 6 and 5 Sheppy Place. Due to the proposed 
wall’s cascading reduction in height from 1.8, to 1.5m and finally to 1.2m at the front, the 
wall will appear more in keeping with surrounding properties.

Proposed wall, 6 Sheppy Place, Gravesend

5.9. The proposed boundary wall therefore accords with Policies CS19 and CS20 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014, Policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan 
1994 and Section 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021 which seek to 
preserve and enhance the character and appearance of Conservation Areas.

Neighbouring Amenity

5.10. The proposed wall will be located to the side of the application site starting from the 
existing side gate that provides access to the rear and extending to the front.  It will start 
from the rear at 1.8m high and drop down to 1.2m high at the front.  There is a door to 
the side of no. 5 Sheppy Place.  This appears to be a solid door with a fan light.  This 
door does not provide the room behind with any outlook or significant daylight and 
therefore the proposed wall will not have a significant impact on either.

5.11. The proposed boundary wall therefore accords with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham 
Local Plan Core Strategy 2014 and para. 130f of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021) in terms of amenity.

Page 15



Parking and Highways

5.12. The proposals will not result in any alterations to the parking arrangements for the 
property and therefore no objection is raised on highways grounds.  A concern was 
raised that the wall would obscure views when turning out of the front gate, however, at 
1.2m in height at this point and there being a footpath between this point and the road, 
no objections are raised.

Other Matters

Ownership

5.13. There has been a query over whether the land in question is within the ownership of the 
applicant or the neighbouring property at no. 5 Sheppy Place.   This is not a material 
planning consideration.

5.14. However, the applicant was advised of this and has altered the plans to show the wall 
within the shared boundary.  

6. Conclusions

6.1. The proposed side wall, subject to a condition relating to the use of materials, is 
considered to preserve the appearance and character of the Conservation Area and 
therefore accords with Policies CS19 and CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy 2014, Policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan 1994 and Section 16 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2021.

______________________________________________________________________________

Recommendation

The recommendation is for the application to be APPROVED Planning Permission, for the 
following reasons:

The proposed wall, subject to a condition relating to the use of materials, is considered to 
preserve the appearance and character of the Conservation Area and therefore accords with 
Policies CS19 and CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014, Policy TC3 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan 1994 and Section 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021.

CONDITIONS

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted.

Reason:  In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in precise accordance with the 
following schedule of approved plans and details, unless alternative details are approved 
pursuant to the conditions imposed on this decision notice:

Application form received 21 June 2021.
Proposed elevational drawing received 8 August 2021.
Proposed block plan received 21 July 2021.

Page 16



Reason:  For the avoidance of any doubt and in the interest of proper planning.

3. The side wall herein approved shall be built with a plain brick on edge with no creasing tile 
and shall be constructed of Wienerberger Smeed Dean London Stock brick unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason:  To ensure that the appearance of the development is satisfactory and without 
prejudice to conditions of visual amenity in the locality, in accordance with Policies CS19 
and CS20 of the Core Strategy 2014 and Policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First 
Review 1994.

INFORMATIVES

1 BUILDING REGULATIONS AND PARTY WALL ACT

This decision DOES NOT imply any consent which may be required under the Building Regulations 
or under any other enactment or provision.  Nor does it override any private rights which any person 
may have relating to the land affected by this decision, including the provisions of the Party Wall etc. 
Act 1996.

 2 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-MAKING

In accordance with Article 35 (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), and paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) 2021, the Local Planning Authority has approached the assessment and 
determination of this application in a positive and creative way and, where appropriate, has worked 
pro-actively with the applicant to secure a development that is sustainable and that improves the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area, and that is in accordance with the 
Development Plan for the area.

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY REPORT
Application Ref: 20210738

Site Address: 93 Rochester Road Gravesend Kent DA12 2HU

Application 
Description: Creation of a vehicle access and hard standing to front.  

Applicant: Mr Balbir Singh Khela

Agent: -

Ward: Riverside

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision due date: 31 August 2021

Publicity expiry date: 03 August 2021

Decision Level: Planning Committee – Wednesday 29 September 2021

Reason for referral: Called In By Councillor Lee Croxton

Recommendation: Refusal
______________________________________________________________________________________

Summary of Reasons for Recommendations

The proposal is for the creation of a vehicle access and hard standing to front.

The recommendation is for the application to be REFUSED Planning Permission, for the following 
reasons:

1. The front garden of No. 93 Rochester Road, Gravesend is too small to provide an 
acceptable turning area in accordance with the Council’s adopted criteria and technical 
requirements to enable a vehicle to property enter and leave in a forward direction.  The 
development without adequate turning facilities within the site would result in vehicles 
reversing into and out of the site, visibility form which would also be restricted due to the 
presence of vehicles that may be parked within the lay-by in the carriageway outside the 
site.  As such this be to the detriment of highway and pedestrian safety and the free flow of 
traffic on this busy classified ‘A’ class road, contrary to Policy CS11 of the Gravesham 
Local Plan Core Strategy (2014), saved Policy T5 of the Gravesham Local Plan First 
Review (1994), paragraph 130 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) and the 
Council’s Planning Guidance Note 6: Planning Policy for Vehicular Accesses to Classified 
Highways (2009) adopted as supplementary planning guidance.

2. To allow the formation of a vehicular access in this location would set a precedent for the 
formation of additional substandard vehicular accesses along this stretch of Rochester 
Road, which would have an adverse impact on highway and pedestrian safety.

____________________________________________________________________________

Page 19 Agenda Item 5b



MAIN REPORT

1. Site Description and Surroundings

1.1. The application site is located to the rear of No. 93 Rochester Road within the urban 
boundary of Gravesend as designated by the Local Plan.  

1.2. 93 Rochester Road is a 1930’s two storey semi-detached bay fronted dwelling situated on 
the north side of the A226 Rochester Road midway between the junctions with Denton 
Court Road and Abbey Road.  

1.3. The front boundary previously comprised of a low level brick wall of two bricks high, with 
the majority of the front garden being concrete hard paved that slopes down towards the 
house.  A small section of the front to the east is gravel.  However, as shown in the photos 
below, the applicant has recently undertaken works to remove the low level brick wall and 
has levelled the front garden to create a concrete/blocked paved front garden. 

Frontage of 93 Rochester Road, Gravesend taken May 2019 (Google Street View)

Frontage of 93 Rochester Road, Gravesend taken September 2021 

Page 20



1.4. The works undertaken recently to the front garden, involves changing of ground levels, 
which constitute development and require planning permission.  As such, the works are a 
breach of planning control. 

1.5. The side boundaries to the adjacent dwellings comprise of a stepped block wall to No. 91 
Rochester Road and a low level retaining brick wall to the garden of No. 95 Rochester 
Road.  

Rochester Road near the property with demarked lay-by parking along the carriageway.

1.6. The area is characterised by semi-detached and terraced two storey dwellings of very 
similar design and layout.

1.7. The majority of parking within the immediate area is on street within the demarked lay-by, 
with the exception of Nos. 89 and 91 to the west that have access and crossovers and 
opposite at No. 64 which utilises the existing crossover that facilitates access to the track to 
the east of playing fields at St John’s Catholic Primary School.

Procedural Issues

1.8. The application has been determined in accordance with the above submitted 
documents/plans and Paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
(2021) sets out adopting a positive and proactive approach to development proposals. In 
this case prior to this application being submitted the applicant did not engage with the 
Local Planning Authority with a formal pre-application enquiry. 

1.9. As discussed further in this report there is principal objection to the proposed development 
and it would not be possible to negotiate with the applicant to overcome the conflict with 
local and national policy.

1.10. Therefore a decision issued within 8 weeks would give the applicant a formal stance from 
the Local Planning Authority on its position with this application. In this instance an 
extension of time would not be appropriate to address the above issues and there is a 

Page 21



strong reality that even with an extension of time with the application the applicant could 
not overcome the fundamental conflict with local and national planning policy.

1.11. No further information is considered necessary to be submitted or clarified by the applicant 
in order for the Local Planning Authority to determine the application.

2. Planning History

Application Ref     Description          Status          Date
20150772 _REVISED DESCRIPTION_ 

Erection of a single storey rear 
extension to form kitchen and 
additional bedroom.

Permission 06.11.2015

20130744 Formation of vehicular access on 
to a classified road and laying out 
of hardstanding in front garden.

Refused 10.10.2013

 
20020003 Formation of a vehicular access 

onto a classified road with 
associated car parking area in the 
front garden.

Refused
Appeal Dismissed

27.02.2002
03.02.2002

19910660 Demolition of entrance lobby at 
rear and erection of single storey 
rear extension  to form enlarged 
kitchen/diner

Permission 05.11.1991

 
19820158 Formation of a vehicular access 

onto a classified highway
Refused 26.04.1982

19800700 Retention of vehicular access Refused 02.02.1981

3. Proposal

3.1. This current application is for the creation of a vehicle access and hard standing to front. 
The proposed access/crossover would measure approx. 3.65m wide at the front, narrowing 
to 3.5m and 3.35m in depth. The submitted plans show that the hardstanding would 
measure 7.2m wide and 12m in depth to the front bay of the property and would be 
constructed of brick pavers and will utilise the existing drain.

3.2. A small planter would be located to the front eastern corner. The proposed hardstanding 
would provide off road parking for 2no. vehicles. 

3.3. The application is not accompanied by any claim that special circumstances should apply 
or that there is an overriding need for an access in this location.

4. Planning Policy, Development Plan and other Material Considerations

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014)
 CS01 – Sustainable Development
 CS02 – Scale & Distribution of Development

Page 22



 CS11 – Transport
 CS12 – Green Infrastructure
 CS18 – Climate Change
 CS19 – Design & Development Principles

4.1. Paragraph 33 of the NPPF (2021) sets out that policies within adopted local plans should 
be reviewed to assess whether they need updating at least once every five years, and 
should then be updated as necessary.  Such reviews are also a legal requirement as set 
out in Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) England 
Regulations 2012.

4.2. The Council undertook such a review in September 2019 and found that the adopted Local 
Plan Core Strategy is in need of a partial review in terms of Policy CS02, due to the 
increased need for housing since the Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted and the need 
to ensure that a sufficient land supply exists to meet this need.  Whilst saved policies from 
the Local Plan 1st Review (1994) generally conform with the NPPF (2021), the Council will 
also seek to replace these.

Other material considerations

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994)
 T1 – Impact of development on the highway network
 T5 – New accesses onto highway network
 P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards

National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
 Section 2 – Achieving Sustainable Development
 Section 12 – Achieving sustainable development and well-designed places

Supplementary Planning Guidance
 SPG2 - Residential Layout Guidelines (2020)
 SPG4 - KCC Parking Standards (2006)
 PGN6 - Planning Policy for vehicular accesses to classified highways (2009)

5. Consultations and Publicity Responses

Consultations

GBC Highway Development Management Officer

5.1. This application requires very careful consideration. I note that the neighbours at 89 and 91 
already have carriage crossovers, but cannot trace any history of a planning application 
being received for such works to take place. I also note that looking at Google Maps Street 
View both were in existence prior to October 2008.

5.2. Looking at Gravesham’s informal guidance PGN6. On Schedule 1 roads, the following 
additional considerations apply:-

 where an alternative means of vehicle access can be provided which does not 
affect the main road, a new access to the classified road will normally be refused;

 all applications will be expected to show on-site turning space - typically, this will 
require a minimum forecourt area of 7.5 metres width and 8 metres depth;

 exceptional circumstances will be needed to justify the creation of more than one 
means of access to a single residential property; 

Page 23



 all new entrances will have to have full sight-lines appropriate to the speed of 
passing traffic and all reasonable steps should be taken to design out any hazards 
arising from this access. This may entail further work in the highway

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/69808/PGN6_Vehicle_
Accesses_on_Classified_Highways.pdf

5.3. Rochester Road is included in Schedule 1 roads

5.4. Here the width is described as 7.2 metres whilst PGN6 suggests 7.5 metres is appropriate, 
although in mitigation the depth of the garden is 12 metres which exceeds the 8 metres 
required in PGN6. Whilst the reduction in width may be manageable with the possible need 
to shunt a car to achieve a turn, it should be proven that a three point turn is possible using 
a vehicle similar to a BMW series 4 for size.

5.5. Pedestrian visibility splays of 2m x 2m should be available either side of the access where 
nothing over 600mm should be permitted given the proximity of the primary school almost 
opposite the site.

Extract from Kent County Council’s Vehicle Crossing: - Guidance and Self-
Assessment

https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/27688/Vehicle-crossing-pre-
application-guidance.pdf

5.6. Next there is the need to consider a vehicle emerging from the property onto Rochester 
Road. The vehicle would first have to negotiate a designated parking lay-by which could 
restrict visibility before emerging into the running lane in an area where speeding must be a 
problem given the presence of a speed camera and the road markings associated with 
such an installation.

5.7. The Crash Map data for the local area gives the following indication regarding accidents for 
the period 2016 to 2020 (the provided data shows a number of accidents in the near 
vicinity of the property and can be accessed via crashmap.co.uk).

Page 24

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/69808/PGN6_Vehicle_Accesses_on_Classified_Highways.pdf
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/69808/PGN6_Vehicle_Accesses_on_Classified_Highways.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/27688/Vehicle-crossing-pre-application-guidance.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/27688/Vehicle-crossing-pre-application-guidance.pdf


Accidents near 93 Rochester Road, Gravesend, Crashmap.co.uk

   

5.8. Whilst no accidents seem to involve vehicles accessing 89 and 91 Rochester Road any 
new access has the potential to be an accident risk. 

5.9. Now referring to the planning history for this property there have been similar applications 
for a carriage crossover. 19800700, 19820158, 20020003 and 20130744 all of which were 
refused, of these 20020003 went to appeal and was dismissed by the inspector.  
2002/00016/REF.

5.10. Given the local accident record, the location of the speed camera and its road marking, the 
need to emerge between parked cars in the lay-by, the size of the front garden and the 
planning history including a previous appeal for an access which was dismissed by an 
Inspector. I consider there have been no significant changes to the highway in the area 
which justifies a change in view and the application should be refused on highway safety 
grounds.   

5.11. In addition if the application were approved it may set a dangerous precedent for further 
applications in the area which could compound any safety issues and reduce the 
availability of on street parking in the area which could have serious consequences given 

Page 25



the proximity of the local schools.

Neighbouring Properties

5.12. Five surrounding properties were consulted with the expiry date of 3rd August 2021. No 
representations have been received.

5.13. An email of support has been received from Councillor Thandi (Northfleet South) and email 
of support of the call-in to Planning Committee was received from Councillor Milner 
(Riverside Ward).

6. Planning Analysis and Development Manager Comments

Background

6.1. As the planning history shows, there have been five previous applications at this property 
since 1980 for vehicular access to facilitate car parking within the front garden.

6.2. The most recent application in 2013 (Ref. 20130744) for the formation of vehicular access 
on to a classified road and laying out of hardstanding in front garden was refused at 
Planning Committee for the following reasons;

1. The front garden of 93 Rochester Road, Gravesend is too small to provide an 
acceptable turning area in accordance with the Council's adopted criteria and technical 
requirements to enable a vehicle to properly enter and leave in a forward direction.  
The development without adequate turning facilities within the site would result in 
vehicles reversing into and out of the site, visibility from which would also be restricted 
due to the presence of vehicles that may be parked within the lay-by in the 
carriageway outside the site.  As such this would be to the detriment of highway and 
pedestrian safety and the free flow of traffic on this busy classified 'A' class road, 
contrary to policy T5 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review 1994, policy T12 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Second Review deposit version and to the Council's Planning 
Guidance Note 6: Planning Policy for Vehicular Assesses to Classified Highways 
adopted as supplementary planning guidance.

2. To allow the formation of a vehicular access in this location would set a precedent for 
the formation of additional substandard vehicular accesses along this stretch of 
Rochester Road, which would have an adverse impact on highway and pedestrian 
safety.

6.3. In 2002 an application for the formation of a vehicular access onto a classified road with 
associated car parking area in the front garden (Ref. 20020003) was refused for the 
following reasons:

1. The turning facilities shown on the submitted plan are unsatisfactory and will 
inevitably result in vehicles reversing to and from a busy and important classified 
road to the serious detriment of road safety.

2. The access arrangement is substandard and therefore contrary to Policy T5 of 
the Borough of Gravesham Local Plan First Review.

An appeal against the refusal was dismissed at appeal on 2 December 2002.  The 
Inspector commented:

Page 26



Rochester Road is part of the A226 road with a carriageway width of about 12m.  It 
is primary distributor linking Gravesend and Rochester.  In this busy urban locality it 
is subject to a 30mph speed restriction.  During my inspection of the site at 
11:45am, and immediate before it, there was for the most part a steady flow of 
traffic along this road in both direction.  No doubt it is even busier at peak times.  
Safety and the free flow of traffic must be an important consideration in the 
determination of proposals of this type.

The submitted plans shows a proposed car parking area in the front garden of the 
appeal site, taking up much of the 7.04m width of the plot.  This compares with the 
7.5m minimum width for a residential turning layout in the Council’s adopted policy 
guidance.  It might be possible to turn a small vehicle around in the proposed area, 
but all too often its limited extent would result in a driver choosing or being obliged 
to gain access to, or emerge from, it in reverse gear.  In view of the status of 
Rochester Road and the heavy flow of traffic normally upon it, I consider that this 
would result in significant inconvenience and danger of all road users of the public 
highway, including pedestrians walking along the footway.

There is a lay-by in the carriageway outside the appeal site.  Several cars were 
parking in it at the time of my inspection, and it is clear from the Council’s statement 
that this is not unusual.  Too often these vehicles would restrict the visibility of a 
driver emerging from No. 93, especially it in reverse gear, and this additional 
hazard would add to the inconvenience and danger described.

I noted the existing cross-overs at Nos. 89, 91 and next to 105 Rochester Road but 
the evidence shows that since 1979 the Council has resisted proposals for 
additional vehicular accesses to this busy road.  Although there is no indication that 
an existing cross-over had led directly to any accidents, the Council is right to 
minimise the risk of danger.  I support its approach, and the provisions of the 
development plan should prevail.

Comparison of Current Proposal to Previous Refused Application (Ref: 20130744)

6.4. The current application is a resubmission of a previously refused scheme that was 
submitted in 2013. 

6.5. The main differences between the current scheme and the previous are;
 A reduction in the planting area to the front to provide a larger turning area;
 A change in layout to the rear and access to the existing porch; and
 The drain is positioned further forward.

 

Page 27



Previous Scheme (Ref: 20130744) Current Scheme

6.6. In essence, the proposal is very similar to the previous in terms of the access and parking 
provision.

Principle

6.7. The application site is located within the urban area of Gravesend where the predominant 
character of the street scene is residential in nature.  The majority of the surrounding 
properties are a mixture of two storey semi-detached and terraced dwellings.  Due to the 
location within an urban area, the principle of alterations to a residential property is 
acceptable providing it accords with local and national policies.

6.8. The key issue in the determination of this application is whether the proposed vehicular 
access would cause harm to highway safety and therefore whether the access would 
comply with the Borough Council’s adopted policy and guidance.

Character and Appearance

6.9. The proposal is for a dropped kerb and crossover providing a new access to hardstanding 
providing off road parking for two vehicles.  The current application has been submitted 
with revisions over the previous schemes to provide a larger turning area to address the 
previous reasons for refusal.  

6.10. Rochester Road is a busy section of the A226 that is predominantly residential in character 
with St John’s Catholic Primary School located opposite the site.  Due to the volume and 
speed of the traffic, a 30mph speed limit is in force and a speed camera is located in close 
proximity to the application site, together with pedestrian islands to facilitate ease of road 
crossing.  

Page 28



6.11. The majority of parking is within the demarked lay-bys that run parallel to the road.  The 
only private residential accesses that are present within the immediate area are to Nos. 89 
and 91, however there is no planning history relating to either of these and they appear to 
pre-date October 2008, as shown below:  

Streetscene – April 2021

Streetscene – October 2008

6.12. In looking at the existing vehicular accesses, both properties benefit from wider frontages 
than the application property, which enables much more ease of turning in order to enter 
and exit the parking areas in a forward gear.

6.13. Policy CS19 (LPCS) states that new development will be visually attractive, fit for purpose 
and locally distinctive.  It will conserve and enhance the character of the local built, historic 
and natural environment, integrate well with the surrounding local area and meet anti-crime 
standards.  The design and construction of new development will incorporate sustainable 
construction standards and techniques, be adaptable to reflect changing lifestyles, and be 
resilient to the effect of climate change.

6.14. In terms of the proposed hardstanding, it has replaced an existing concrete hardstanding 
and gravel area and would only result in a loss of a two brick high boundary.  Whilst there 
is no soft landscaping, the proposed parking area would not result in a detrimental impact 
on the visual amenity of the front of the property or a hardening of the streetscene.  
Furthermore, the use of porous materials would be an improvement over the existing 
concrete.

Page 29



6.15. Therefore in terms of the visual impact of the hardstanding/parking area alone, there is no 
objection and the proposal would accord with Policy CS19 (Development and Design 
Principles) of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (LPCS) (2014) and Section 12 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) achieving sustainable development 
and well-designed places.

Residential Amenity

6.16. The NPPF (2021) states that planning decisions should aim to secure a high standard of 
amenity for all existing and future users (paragraph 130f). The impact on amenity is also 
considered with regard to the criteria within Policy CS19 (LPCS) states that new 
development should be located, designed and constructed to safeguard the amenity, 
including privacy, daylight and sunlight, of its occupants, and those of neighbouring 
properties and land.

Amenity of Future Occupiers

6.17. The proposed development provides acceptable living conditions that safeguard the 
amenity of future occupiers in accordance with Policy CS19 (LPCS).

Neighbouring Amenity

6.18. The proposed hardstanding/parking area would not cause any material harm to the 
amenity of any adjoining properties in terms of loss of light, outlook, privacy or sense of 
enclosure. As such the application is considered to safeguard the amenity of neighbouring 
properties in accordance with Policy CS19 (LPCS). 

6.19. Therefore in terms of residential amenity, the proposal would accords with the objectives of 
Policy CS19 (LPCS) and paragraph 130f of the NPPF (2021).

Parking and Highways

6.20. The proposed development would result in the provision of 2no. off road parking spaces, 
which would accord with the KCC Parking Standards for a 3-bed property.  However, the 
proposed dropped kerb and crossover would result in the loss of one off street parking 
space within the lay-by in order to gain access to the property and therefore in practical 
terms, there would only be one additional parking space above the existing parking 
provision for the area.  

6.21. In relation to the vehicular access, the preamble of saved Policy T5 (LPFR) states that; In 
urban area, turning movements account for a significant proportion of accidents.  On major 
routes in rural area, speed becomes an additional factor.  New accesses can create further 
potential hazards, both by increasing the number of turning movements on urban roads 
and by creating additional potential obstructions on the rural road network.  It is particular 
important that the main highway network of primary, district and local distributors should 
remain free of new accesses.

6.22. Saved Policy T5 says; The formation of new accesses or the intensification of use of 
existing accesses to the roads forming the highway network shown on the Proposals Map 
will not normally be permitted, except where no danger would arise and where a properly 
formed access can be created in a location and to a standard acceptable to the Local 
Planning and Highway Authorities.

6.23. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2021) that plans and decisions should apply a presumption in 

Page 30



favour of sustainable development which means approving development proposals that 
accord with an up-to-date development plan (paragraph 11c) and where there are no 
relevant development policies, or out-of-date planning permission should be granted unless 
any adverse impacts would so significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole (paragraph 11d)ii).

6.24. In addition to the Local Plan polices, the Council has adopted supplementary guidance 
“Planning Policy for vehicular accesses to classified highways” (Planning Guidance Note 
No 6).  This gives detailed advice regarding design criteria for vehicular accesses and sets 
out the circumstances where permission will be granted for new vehicle accesses onto 
classified roads.  It has been the subject of thorough public consultation.

6.25. The Council’s policy and guidance for controlling the formation of vehicular accesses to 
classified highways is long established dating from the mid 1970’s and reaffirmed in 
November 1980.  It was established as a planning policy through the original Gravesham 
Local Plan in 1987.  The policy guidance was revised in September 1991 following which 
an explanatory leaflet was produced.  In November 1992 the policy guidance was 
reappraised.  The policy guidance was modified only in its interpretation concerning 
accesses to local distributor routes subject to a 30mph speed limit.  This had the effect of 
deleting on such roads the requirement for the provision of a vehicle turning area within the 
site to enable vehicles to enter and leave in a forward direction.

6.26. The current guidance makes it clear that whilst each application for a new vehicular access 
to a classified road will be considered on its individual merits, certain standards will apply 
throughout:-

 there should be a minimum depth of 5.0 metres available from the rear edge of the 
highway or path, to ensure a car can be parked wholly off the road (increased to 5.5 
metres where the driveway leads to a garage door);

 visibility splay should be provided appropriate to the class of road and the speed of 
passing traffic.  Typical standards are 2 x 2 metres (measured along back of footway) 
for pedestrians and 2 x 45 metres (measured along kerb line) for vehicles.  Where 
these cannot be provided within the applicant’s land-holding, the agreement of a 
neighbouring landowner may be required to comply;

 there should be sufficient width on the public road to ensure that vehicles may turn in 
and out safely with no lateral damage or over-running of verges or private property;

 excessive gradients which would cause dangers to road users in wet/icy conditions 
should be avoided;

 the access should not create a hazard by virtue of its close proximity to other 
entrances, road junctions, pedestrian crossings and traffic islands;

 in conservation areas and in the grounds of listed buildings, there will be a 
presumption against paving over the entire forecourt for the benefit of parking.  New 
proposals should seek to retain at least half of the garden as soft landscaping.

On Schedule 1 roads, the following additional considerations apply:-

 where an alternative means of vehicle access can be provided which does not affect 
the main road, a new access to the classified road will normally be refused;

Page 31



 all applications will be expected to show on-site turning space – typically, this will 
require a minimum forecourt area of 7.5 metres width and 8 metres depth;

 exceptional circumstances will be needed to justify the creation of more than one 
means of access to a single residential property;

 all new entrances will have to have full sight-lines appropriate to the speed of passing 
traffic and all reasonable steps should be taken to design out any hazards arising from 
this access.  This may entail further work in the highway.

6.27. Schedule 1 roads covers all trunk roads, primary and district distributor routes (A and B 
roads) and those local distributor routes which fall partly or wholly outside a 30mph speed 
limit. In this case at 93 Rochester Road the site fronts onto an A Class primary distributor 
route the A226.

6.28. The basic requirement of an access to A or B class roads (Schedule 1 roads) is that a car 
should be able to be driven in and out in a forward direction and hence there has to be 
sufficient space for turning the vehicle around on the forecourt in addition to the vehicle 
parking space.  This should not be in the form of a multi-point turn.

6.29. This policy, which has been adopted and strictly enforced by the Council over the past 30 
or more years, aims to ensure that residents who live on major strategic routes are not 
permitted to create entrances which would require them to reverse their vehicles either on 
or off the public highway and thereby causing potential danger to other moving traffic as 
well as to pedestrians.

6.30. It would not be possible to satisfy the above policy criteria at this property in Rochester 
Road.  The size of the front garden at this dwelling would be inadequate for the creation of 
a turning area in accordance with the Council’s adopted minimum criteria and technical 
requirements to enable vehicles to enter and leave in a forward direction.

6.31. The width of the front garden varies from a maximum of 7.2m at the frontage but is actually 
less internally at a width between walls of 6.9/7.0m.  Whilst it is acknowledged that the 
Highways comments state that the shortfall in width could be mitigated by the 12m depth 
which exceeds the 8.0m minimum, it should be noted that the dimensions quoted in the 
guidance are the absolute minimum and in reality a proper turning area with free standing 
space for a hardstanding for a car will inevitably mean a much greater area is required 
within a site.

6.32. The following drawing shows a vehicle swept path or three point turn manoeuvre overlain 
on the applicants drawing which demonstrates that the manoeuvre cannot be achieved in 
the confines of the site.

Page 32



6.33. It is not disputed that there is sufficient space just to park a car in the front garden 
clear of the highway but the implication of not having a full turning width available is 
simply a greater likelihood that residents will choose not to turn around within the 
site and a vehicle would reverse either onto or off the site, either manoeuvre being 
hazardous.  Whilst it is acknowledged the applicant has attempted to address the 
previous reasons for refusal, it is still considered that the proposed vehicular access 
in this location would still breach saved Policy T5 (LPFR), as it would result in 
vehicles reversing into or out of the site to the detriment of highway safety and free 
flow of traffic on this busy classified road.  The problem would also be exacerbated 
even more if there were more than one vehicle parked within the forecourt of the 
dwelling and which in any case would be difficult to enforce.

6.34. The provision of a vehicular access in this location would remove an on street 
parking bay from the existing kerbside parking bays which is no doubt clearly well 
used and it is doubtful therefore as to whether little would be gained by the proposal 
other than perhaps a slightly more secure parking space.  Indeed the close 
proximity of vehicles reversing out or emerging blind to the stream of moving traffic.  
The wide nature of Rochester Road currently enables on street parking to take 
place in relative safety, without obstruction to passing traffic.

Page 33



6.35. Of the neighbouring properties only a few have existing vehicular accesses in this 
location.  No. 89 Rochester Road has a vehicle access and which has space for a 
turning area.  No. 91 Rochester Road has a vehicle access in use with a turning 
space.  Both of these properties have a much wider front garden than the 
application property and this therefore provides sufficient space for vehicle turning.  
Both those accesses appear to be historic as there are no records of planning 
permission being granted for them although both have properly constructed vehicle 
crossovers.

6.36. No. 95 has a paved forecourt which is stepped down from the back edge of the 
footway but there is no evidence that this has been used for vehicle parking in 
recent years.  No. 105 Rochester Road being an end terrace property has a vehicle 
access to the side with no turning area but this is believed to have been in 
existence for many years or created long before the access policy or guidance was 
formulated and adopted.  There are no other vehicle accesses to properties within 
this location.  Whilst acknowledging that each application or proposal would always 
be considered on their individual merits there would be concern that if this proposal, 
for what would be substandard access, were to be supported in this case, it would 
make it impossible to restrict substandard vehicular accesses at all other adjacent 
properties.

6.37. Account has to be taken of the previous planning history and the fact that very 
similar proposals were refused permission in 2013 (Ref. 20130744) at Planning 
Committee, as well as in 2002 (Ref. 20020003), which was also supported by an 
Independent Planning Inspector on the grounds of the limited site width.  There has 
really been no substantial change in circumstances since then in either policy terms 
or the available space for parking and turning which must mean that the same 
reasons for rejection would still apply today.

6.38. Overall and taking into consideration the above, in terms of highway safety, the 
proposed access and hardstanding would be contrary to saved Policy T5 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan First Review (1994) and Policy CS11 of the Core Strategy 
2014.

7. Conclusion

7.1. Taking all the above issues into account, it is considered that the proposal cannot 
be supported for highway safety reasons and being contrary to Policy CS11 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014), saved Policy T5 of the Gravesham 
Local Plan First Review (1994), paragraph 130 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021) and the Council’s Planning Guidance Note 6: Planning Policy for 
Vehicular Accesses to Classified Highways (2009) adopted as supplementary 
planning guidance. 

______________________________________________________________________________

Recommendation

The recommendation is for the application to be REFUSED Planning Permission, for the following 
reasons:

1. The front garden of No. 93 Rochester Road, Gravesend is too small to provide an 
acceptable turning area in accordance with the Council’s adopted criteria and technical 

Page 34



requirements to enable a vehicle to property enter and leave in a forward direction.  The 
development without adequate turning facilities within the site would result in vehicles 
reversing into and out of the site, visibility form which would also be restricted due to the 
presence of vehicles that may be parked within the lay-by in the carriageway outside the 
site.  As such this be to the detriment of highway and pedestrian safety and the free flow 
of traffic on this busy classified ‘A’ class road, contrary to Policy CS11 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014), saved Policy T5 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan First Review (1994), paragraph 130 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2021) and the Council’s Planning Guidance Note 6: Planning Policy for Vehicular 
Accesses to Classified Highways (2009) adopted as supplementary planning guidance.

2. To allow the formation of a vehicular access in this location would set a precedent for 
the formation of additional substandard vehicular accesses along this stretch of 
Rochester Road, which would have an adverse impact on highway and pedestrian 
safety.

INFORMATIVES

1. DRAWINGS AND DOCUMENTS

For the avoidance of doubt, the decision to refuse this application was taken in relation to the 
following forms, plans and documents comprising the application:

Planning Application Form;
Site Location Plan;
Drawing No. BK-01A – Proposed Plan;
Drawing No. BK-02 – Existing Plan;
Drawing No. BK-03 – Sections / Elevations;
Drawing No. BK-04 – Existing Block Plan; and
Drawing No. BK-05 – Proposed Block Plan.

2 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-MAKING

In accordance with Article 35 (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), and paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) 2021, the Local Planning Authority has approached the assessment 
and determination of this application in a positive and creative way and, where appropriate, has 
worked pro-actively with the applicant to secure a development that is sustainable and that 
improves the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area, and that is in accordance 
with the Development Plan for the area.

In this instance, the application is contrary to local and national planning policy and the 
planning objections could not be overcome by amendments to the scheme or through the 
imposition of acceptable and appropriate planning conditions.

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY REPORT
Application Ref: 20210634

Site Address: 28 Tennyson Walk, Northfleet DA11 8LR
Application 
Description:

Erection of a single storey rear extension and erection of a new 
two storey house attached to the side of the existing dwelling.

Applicant: Mr Lakh Kallar, Kallarview Construction Limited

Agent: Mr Peter Swain, Proun Architects

Ward: Painters Ash

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision due date: Extension of time to 27 July 2021

Decision Level: Planning Committee – Wednesday 29 September 2021

Reason for referral:

Recommendation: Refusal
______________________________________________________________________________________

Summary of Reasons for Recommendations

This application seeks planning permission for a single storey extension to the rear of 28 
Tennyson Walk and an attached two storey dwelling to the west.

This is the third application on the site in recent times, with the previous two being refused due 
to the detrimental impact of the proposals on character and appearance, insufficient amenities 
and lack of ecological mitigation.

This application shows a proposal for a property that projects 5m to the side of the host 
dwelling and contains two bedrooms on the side garden of 28 Tennyson Walk, as well as a 3m 
rear extension to the existing dwelling.

The application site is located on a prominent corner where the land slopes down to the south.  
The proposal for a new dwelling would take the built form closer to Marconi Road when 
compared to existing properties within the street scene.  

The proposal therefore is recommended for refusal on the grounds of, it results in a cramped 
form of development, it is out of character with the surrounding area; insufficient amenity space 
is left for the existing dwelling at 28 Tennyson Walk; and due to a lack of ecological mitigation.
____________________________________________________________________________

MAIN REPORT

1. Site Description and Surroundings

1.1. The application site is comprised of a detached, two storey dwelling, located on a 
prominent corner at the junction of Tennyson Walk and Marconi Road.  Due to the sloping 
nature of Marconi Road and due to the road layout, the existing dwelling is visually 

Page 37 Agenda Item 5c



prominent in the wider street scene (especially when viewed from the south).  The 
application property in keeping with the local area, is located within a spacious plot, with a 
garden that extends from the front of the property to the rear, as illustrated in the photo 
below. 

28 Tennyson Walk, Northfleet (Google Street View, September 2021)

1.2. The area surrounding the application site is residential in character, where dwellings are of 
a similar type and age, the western part of Tennyson Walk is predominantly detached 
bungalows, with variations in size and design.  In the eastern part of Tennyson Walk and 
in Marconi Road, there is mixture of bungalows and two storey dwellings.   There are 
detached and semi-detached properties in both roads.  The external facing materials in 
this area are predominantly red brick and concrete tile, with pitched roof designs.  There 
are both hip and gable end roof features.  The buildings are laid out in a uniform pattern, 
fronting the roadways and share common building lines.  

28 Tennyson Walk, Northfleet (Google Street View, September 2021)

2. Planning History

Page 38



20201260 Erection of a single storey rear 
extension and erection of an 
attached two storey dwelling to the 
side of the existing dwelling.

REF 12.02.2021

20200783 Erection of part single storey and 
part two storey extension and 
erection of a new two storey house 
attached to the existing dwelling.

REF 22.10.2020

3. Proposal

3.1. Erection of a single storey rear extension and erection of a new two storey house attached 
to the side of the existing dwelling.  The proposed dwelling will extend approx. 5m to the 
side of no. 28 and will be the same height.  There will be a single storey rear extension of 
3m that will run across the back of both properties.  There will be parking to the rear.

4. Planning Policy, Development Plan and other Material Considerations

4.1. The relevant polices for this proposal are as follows:

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014)
• CS01 – Sustainable Development
• CS02 – Scale & Distribution of Development
• CS11 – Transport
• CS12 – Green Infrastructure
• CS14 – Housing Type and Size
• CS15 – Housing Density
• CS18 – Climate Change
• CS19 - Design & Development Principles

4.2. Paragraph 33 of the (NPPF) (2021) sets out those policies within adopted local plans 
should be reviewed to assess whether they need updating at least once every five years, 
and should then be updated as necessary.  Such reviews are also a legal requirement as 
set out in Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) England 
Regulations 2012.

4.3. The Council undertook such a review in September 2019 and the review found that the 
adopted Local Plan Core Strategy (LPCS) is in need of a partial review in terms of Policy 
CS02 (LPCS) due to the increased need for housing since the Local Plan Core Strategy 
was adopted and the need to ensure a sufficient land supply exists to meet this need. 
Whilst saved policies from the Local Plan 1st Review (1994) generally conform with the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021), the Council will also seek to replace these 
saved policies via the emerging Local Plan.

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994)
• T1 – Impact of development on the highway network
• P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards

National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
•   Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
•   Section 4 – Decision-making
•   Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
•   Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities 

Page 39



•   Section 11 – Making effective use of land
•   Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places
•   Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

Supplementary Planning Guidance
• SPG2 - Residential Layout Guidelines (2020)
• SPG4 - KCC Parking Standards (2006)

Other documents
• Technical housing standards – nationally described space standard (March 2015)

5. Consultations and Publicity Responses 

Consultees

GBC Regulatory Services (from previous application 20201260)

5.1. If permission is granted, we would ask that the following conditions are applied:

5.2. Watching Brief: The applicant shall undertake a watching brief during construction in case 
any contamination issue is encountered.  If during development any contamination is 
found, the local planning authority should be informed as soon as practical and the work 
shall not continue until written agreement is provided by the LPA as to the appropriate 
measures to be taken to resolve the matter and they are satisfied that those measures 
have been carried out.

5.3. Code of Construction Practice: Please apply.

GBC Waste Management (from previous application 20201260)

5.4. I have reviewed the above planning application and confirm that I am happy with the refuse 
and recycling arrangements proposed.

Natural England (from previous application 20201260)

5.5. Since this application will result in a net increase in residential accommodation, impacts to 
the coastal Special Protection Area(s) and Ramsar Site(s) may result from increased 
recreational disturbance. Your authority has measures in place to manage these potential 
impacts through the agreed strategic solution which we consider to be ecologically sound.  

5.6. Subject to the appropriate financial contribution being secured, Natural England is satisfied 
that the proposal will mitigate against the potential recreational impacts of the 
development on the site(s).  However, our advice is that this proposed development, and 
the application of these measures to avoid or reduce the likely harmful effects from it, may 
need to be formally checked and confirmed by your Authority, as the competent authority, 
via an appropriate assessment in view of the European Site’s conservation objectives and 
in accordance with the Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2017. 

5.7. This is because Natural England notes that the recent People Over Wind Ruling by the 
Court of Justice of the European Union concluded that, when interpreting article 6(3) of 
the Habitats Directive, it is not appropriate when determining whether or not a plan or 
project is likely to have a significant effect on a site and requires an appropriate 
assessment, to take account of measures intended to avoid or reduce the harmful effects 
of the plan or project on that site. The ruling also concluded that such measures can 
however be considered during an appropriate assessment to determine whether a plan or 

Page 40

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/category/6490068894089216
http://curia.europa.eu/juris/document/document.jsf?docid=200970&doclang=EN


project will have an adverse effect on the integrity of the European site. Your Authority 
should have regard to this and may wish to seek its own legal advice to fully understand 
the implications of this ruling in this context.

5.8. Natural England advises that it is a matter for your Authority to decide whether an 
appropriate assessment of this proposal is necessary in light of this ruling.  In accordance 
with the Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2017, Natural England must be 
consulted on any appropriate assessment your Authority may decide to make.

5.9. Natural England has not assessed this application for impacts on protected 
species. Natural England has published Standing Advice which you can use to assess 
impacts on protected species or you may wish to consult your own ecology services for 
advice. 

5.10. We recommend referring to our SSSI Impact Risk Zones (available on Magic and as a 
downloadable dataset) prior to consultation with Natural England. Further guidance on 
when to consult Natural England on planning and development proposals is available on 
gov.uk at https://www.gov.uk/guidance/local-planning-authorities-get-environmental-ad

Environment Agency

5.11. No comments to make.

KCC Highways

5.12. Referring to the above description, it would appear that this development proposal does 
not meet the criteria to warrant involvement from the Highway Authority in accordance 
with the current consultation protocol arrangements. If there are any material highway 
safety concerns that you consider should be brought to the attention of the HA, then 
please contact us again with your specific concerns for our consideration.

5.13. INFORMATIVE: It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure , before the development 
hereby approved is commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents 
where required are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are clearly 
established in order to avoid any enforcement action being taken by the Highway 
Authority.

5.14. Across the county there are pieces of land next to private homes and gardens that do not 
look like roads or pavements but are actually part of the road. This is called ‘highway 
land’. Some of this land is owned by The Kent County Council (KCC) whilst some are 
owned by third party owners. Irrespective of the ownership, this land may have ‘highway 
rights’ over the topsoil.

5.15. Information about how to clarify the highway boundary can be found at: 
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land/highway-
boundary-enquiries

5.16. The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the approved plans agree in 
every aspect with those approved under such legislation and common law. It is therefore 
important for the applicant to contact KCC Highways and Transportation to progress this 
aspect of the works prior to commencement on site.

Highway Development Management Officer 

Page 41

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/protected-species-and-sites-how-to-review-planning-proposals
http://www.magic.gov.uk/
https://naturalengland-defra.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/sssi-impact-risk-zones-england?geometry=-32.18%2C48.014%2C27.849%2C57.298
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/local-planning-authorities-get-environmental-ad
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land/highway-boundary-enquiries
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land/highway-boundary-enquiries


5.17. I have no objections there is adequate space for the provision of car parking as required by 
both Gravesham and Kent County Councils supplementry planning guidance. However, 
two secure and weather proof bicycle spaces should be provided for the new dwelling to 
comply with SPG4.

Southern Water

5.18. Southern Water requires a formal application for any new connection to the public foul 
sewer to be made by the applicant or developer. 

5.19. To make an application visit: southernwater.co.uk/developing and please read our New 
Connections Services Charging Arrangements documents which are available on our 
website via the following link: southernwater.co.uk/developing-building/connection-
charging-arrangements 

5.20. Our initial investigations indicate that there are no public surface water sewers in the area 
to serve this development. Alternative means of draining surface water from this 
development are required. This should not involve disposal to a public foul sewer and 
should be in line with the Hierarchy of H3 of Building Regulations with preference for use 
of soakaways. 

5.21. The proposed development would lie within a Source Protection Zone. The applicant will 
need to consult with the Environment Agency to ensure the protection of the public water 
supply source is maintained and inform Southern Water of the outcome of this 
consultation. 

5.22. It is possible that a sewer now deemed to be public could be crossing the development 
site. Therefore, should any sewer be found during construction works, an investigation of 
the sewer will be required to ascertain its ownership before any further works commence 
on site.

Neighbouring properties

5.23. The application was advertised by individual letters to 10 properties.  Seven letters of 
objection have been received.

5.24. Main concerns:

- Out of character

Page 42



- Strong building line
- Would set a precedent for more of the same
- Blind corner
- Other properties were not allowed to build two storey dwellings
- People park on the pavement
- Loss of light
- There is no evidence in the design and access statements that similar developments 

have been granted permission
- Garden grabbing
- Cramped unattractive development
- No objection to single storey extension
- Disruption during construction
- New houses are not needed
- Parking and access for emergency services
- Compared to the previous application the changes are minimal
- the site is on a slope and will make it very prominent
- loss of garden space to no. 28 Tennyson Walk
- unbalanced, windows out of character
- overlooking
- there are restrictive covenants on the land (not a material planning consideration)

-
6. Service Manager (Planning) Comments

Housing Need

6.1. Policy CS02 (LPCS) sets out the Borough’s objectively assessed need for housing over the 
Plan period (up to the year 2028) and finds that there is a need for at least 6,170 new 
dwellings during the period. Evidence now available shows that the Council is not able to 
demonstrate a five-year housing supply (a 3.27 year supply has most recently been 
calculated within the statement published here), and as the delivery of housing was 
substantially below (less than 75%) that required by the Housing Delivery Test, the 
housing delivery element of Policy CS02 (LPCS) must be regarded to be out of date, as 
required by the Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF (2021).

6.2. This requires that in regard to housing development, planning permission should be 
granted unless: “the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets 
of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or 
any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.”

6.3. In the Gravesham context, the policies referred to in paragraph 11(d)(i) above are those 
set out in the NPPF (2021) at footnote 7 (rather than those in development plans) relating 
to any of the following:

 Sites of Special Scientific Interest; 
 Green Belt; 
 Local Green Space; 
 Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty;
 Irreplaceable habitats; 
 Designated heritage assets (and other heritage assets of archaeological interest 

referred to in footnote 67); and
 Areas at risk of flooding or coastal change.

Page 43

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/189288/5-Year-Housing-Land-Supply-Statement-2020-2025.pdf


6.4. In determining applications for planning permission involving housing, the Council will 
therefore apply a weighted balance in favour of granting planning permission in 
accordance with relevant case law and guidance, having regard to the acceptability or 
otherwise of the proposals when evaluated against development plan policy, the need to 
make efficient use of land (paragraph 124 of the NPPF (2021)) in context, the relative 
contribution the proposal makes towards the alleviation of any shortfall in housing delivery 
at that time and any other considerations material to the proposed development.

6.5. The proposed development would provide a net increase of 1 dwelling, which would offer a 
minimal contribution towards meeting local housing need and, accordingly, this weighs in 
support of the application.  The NPPF (2021) also encourages the effective use of land in 
meeting the need for homes.  However, this has to be balanced against safeguarding and 
improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions, matters which 
are sought throughout the NPPF (2021), including in particular the requirement for 
development to maintain an area’s prevailing character and setting; achieve high quality 
buildings and places; add to the overall quality of the area, be visually attractive, and 
create a high standard of amenity for existing and future users.  These matters will be 
considered further below. 

Background

6.6. Application reference 20200783 was refused in October 2020 for an attached three 
bedroom dwelling.  This was refused for the following reasons:

1. The proposed development, by reason of its form, layout and appearance, would constitute the 
inappropriate development of a residential garden, which would be neither in keeping with the 
surrounding built form or the character of the surrounding street scene.  As such, the proposal 
would be contrary to Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014 
and to paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

2. The proposed development, by reason of its insufficient on-site parking provision, would be 
likely to lead to vehicles parking/obstructing the public highway.  The proposal would also fail to 
demonstrate that satisfactory sight line visibility can be provided for the proposed parking space 
for the new dwelling.  As such the proposal would be detrimental to highway safety and 
contrary to Policy CS11 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014 and to 
saved Policies T1 and P3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review November 1994.

3. The proposal, by reason of its design and proximity to neighbouring properties would lead to a 
detrimental level of overlooking and an unacceptable loss of privacy from overlooking to 
neighbouring windows and a private garden.   As such, the proposed development would be 
contrary to Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014, to the 
Borough Council's adopted Residential Layout Guidelines and to paragraph 127(f) of the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

4. The proposed development, by reason of its insufficient provision of private amenity space 
would provide a poor standard of living for future occupiers.  This would be detrimental to 
residential amenity and be contrary to Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
September 2014, to the Borough Council's adopted Residential Layout Guidelines and to and 
paragraph 127(f) of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

5. The applicant has failed to provide any ecological evidence to inform a habitat regulations 
assessment covering the impact of the development on the Thames Estuary and Marshes 
Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar Site or offered a financial contribution towards 
mitigation measures to address the impact of the development on the SPA/Ramsar site.  The 
proposal would therefore be contrary to Policy CS12 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 

Page 44



Strategy September 2014 and to paragraph 175 of the NPPF.

6.7. A revised application (20201260) was submitted and refused in February 2021 for a single 
storey rear extension and erection of an attached two storey (two bedroom) dwelling.  This 
was refused for the following reasons:

1. The proposed development, by reason of its form, layout and appearance, would 
constitute the inappropriate development of a residential garden, which would be neither 
in keeping with the surrounding built form or the character of the surrounding street 
scene.  As such, the proposal would be contrary to Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan Core Strategy September 2014 and to paragraph 127 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2019).

2. The proposed development, by reason of its insufficient provision of private amenity 
space would provide a poor standard of living for future occupiers.  This would be 
detrimental to residential amenity and be contrary to Policy CS19 of the Gravesham 
Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014, to the Borough Council's adopted 
Residential Layout Guidelines and to paragraph 127(f) of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2019.

3. The applicant has failed to provide any ecological evidence to inform a habitat 
regulations assessment covering the impact of the development on the Thames Estuary 
and Marshes Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar Site or offered a financial 
contribution towards mitigation measures to address the impact of the development on 
the SPA/Ramsar site.  The proposal would therefore be contrary to Policy CS12 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014 and to paragraph 175 of the 
NPPF.

6.8. The main difference between this proposal and the last is that the proposed dwelling has 
been reduced in width by approx. 1.5m.

Principle 

6.9. The application site for the new dwelling is comprised of the western and southern parts of 
a domestic garden.  It is located within the urban area of Northfleet and because it 
comprises of land within a residential garden, it does not meet the definition of previously 
developed land in the National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF).

6.10. The following sections will consider the detailed design and impacts of the proposed 
development.

Design, Character and Appearance

6.11. Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014 sets out that 
new development will be visually attractive, fit for purpose and locally distinctive.  It should 
conserve and enhance the character of the built environment and take account of the 
scale, height, building lines and other architectural features of buildings.  Account should 
also be taken of strategic views, site topography, the significance of heritage assets and 
features of townscape and landscape value which contribute to local character and sense 
of place.

6.12. Policy CS14 requires new housing development to provide a range of dwelling types and 
sizes, taking account of the existing character of the area and evidence of local need.

6.13. Policy CS15 requires new housing to be developed at a density that achieves good design 

Page 45



and does not compromise the distinctive character of the local area.  In urban areas, 
residential development should achieve a minimum density of 40 dwellings per hectare.  
Proposals that fail to make efficient use of land for housing, having regard to the character 
and location of the area may be refused.

6.14. The application site comprises of a detached, two storey dwelling, located on a prominent 
corner at the junction of Tennyson Walk and Marconi Road.  Due to the sloping nature of 
Marconi Road and due to the road layout, the existing dwelling is visually prominent in the 
wider street scene (especially when viewed from the south).  The application property is 
located within a plot that has a large side and rear garden and as a result, the site has a 
density of some 18 dwellings per hectare.

6.15. The area surrounding the application site, along the western part of Tennyson Walk is 
residential in character, where dwellings are of a similar type and age, being 
predominantly detached bungalows, with variations in size and design.  In the eastern part 
of Tennyson Walk and in Marconi Road, there is mixture of bungalows and two storey 
dwellings.   There are detached and semi-detached properties in both roads.  The external 
facing materials in this area are predominantly red brick and concrete tile, with pitched 
roof designs.  There are both hip and gable end roof features.  The buildings are laid out 
in a uniform pattern, fronting the roadways and following strong building lines, with 
generous sized plots.  

6.16. The proposed development would introduce a new dwelling beyond the existing building 
line in Marconi Road, resulting in the loss of a significant amount of garden space for the 
existing dwelling at no. 28 Tennyson Walk and providing only a relatively small garden for 
the new dwelling.

6.17. Local residents have raised a number of concerns regarding the design of the proposed 
development and highlight that the proposal would not be in keeping with the established 
layout and pattern of development and would be an overdevelopment of the site.

6.18. The external facing materials and general design approach for the proposed dwelling 
would match with the existing building and those in the surrounding area.  Although when 
viewed from the front and rear, the overall building would look unbalanced and lack the 
symmetry that would usually be associated with a semi-detached arrangement.  The loss 
of the spacious side garden area would lead to a cramped, over-developed appearance 
on a corner plot, which would be out of character with the existing situation.  Furthermore 
the new dwelling would extend beyond the established building line in Marconi Road, 
interrupting and undermining the pattern of development in this prominent location.

6.19. The proposed development would have a density of some 36 dwellings per hectare, which 
would be less than the minimum requirement under Policy CS15 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan Core Strategy September 2014 (40 dwellings per hectare in the urban area).  
However it is noted that the policy also states that new housing should be developed at a 
density that would achieve good design and does not compromise the character of the 
area in which it is situated.  The surrounding properties in Tennyson Walk have spacious 
plots and development is generally at a much lower density than the proposal.  Therefore 
in this instance, a lower density development would be more in keeping with the 
surrounding area.

6.20. Local residents refer to the proposal setting a precedent for similar proposals.  However a 
precedent argument only has considerable weight where specific examples of similar 
circumstances can be identified.  In this instance, there do not appear to be any similar 
development sites in the area and as such, the proposal would not set a precedent for 

Page 46



future development.  In any event, it is noted that any similar proposal would be judged on 
its own merits with reference to development plan policy and its own specific locational 
characteristics.  Therefore any planning permission granted at this site would not 
automatically mean that a similar proposal would also be allowed.  

6.21. The proposed development would also involve the erection of a single storey rear 
extension at no. 28 Tennyson Walk.  The depth of which would be three metres and it 
would stretch across the whole width of the property.  The extension would be of a design 
that would broadly match with the existing building and even though the flat roof would not 
be in keeping with the pitched main roof, it would reduce the bulk of the proposed 
extension, and as such, would be acceptable.

6.22. It is noted that the current application has a revised design approach and seeks to 
overcome the previous grounds of refusal for application reference 20200783 and 
20201260.

6.23. It is noted that the width of the previously proposed dwelling was approx. 6.5m and this has 
been reduced to approx. 5m.  This does reduce the projection beyond the established 
building line in Marconi Road however, it still results in a reduction of the private open 
space to this corner and, due to the land level changes to the south, will still result in a 
dominant form of development in a prominent location.  The proposed garden area for the 
new dwelling has been increased but only to the side of the new property and still appears 
small in comparison to those in the surrounding area.  The proposed development 
remains cramped and overdeveloped in appearance and would be out of character with 
the surrounding location.

6.24. Overall it is considered that the proposed dwelling, by reason of its form, layout and 
appearance, would constitute the inappropriate development of a residential garden, 
which would be neither in keeping with the surrounding built form or the character of the 
surrounding street scene.  As such, the proposal would be contrary to paragraph 130 of 
the NPPF and Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014.

Amenity of Future Occupiers

6.25. Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014 requires new 
development to the located, designed and constructed to safeguard the amenity, including 
privacy, daylight and sunlight, of its occupants.  In this regard the Nationally Described 
Space Standards and the Borough Council’s adopted Residential Layout Guidelines 
(RLG) are relevant.

6.26. All proposed bedroom floor areas and widths and the total internal floor area for the new 
dwelling meet the minimum Nationally Described Space Standards.  Which for a two 
bedroom, three person or four person, two storey dwelling are 70 and 79 square metres 
respectively (with 2 square metres of storage) and for double and single bedrooms are 
11.5 and 7.5 square metres respectively.  The proposed garden for the new dwelling 
would meet the minimum requirements of the RLG in terms of space and depth for a two 
bedroom property (37.2 square metres, with a 7.6 metre depth).  

6.27. A local resident has raised concerns that the first floor layout could easily be amended to 
provide three bedrooms.  Clearly sufficient floor area exists to allow that to happen.  Such 
an alteration would be difficult to enforce against (as it would not be obvious externally 
and as a future internal alteration, may not require planning permission) but could have 
significant consequences for the living conditions of future residents (as an additional 
bedroom would add to the requirement for a larger garden).

Page 47



6.28. According to the RLG, a three bedroom property should have a 60 square metre garden 
with a 10 metre depth.  Due to the requirement to provide off-road parking, there would be 
no space to increase the extent of the proposed garden, which at 54 square metres and 
7.7 metres depth would be below the three bedroom standard.  

6.29. It is noted that the residual garden for no. 28 Tennyson Walk would not meet the minimum 
requirement for a four bedroom property in the RLG (100 square metres, with a depth of 
10 metres).  The useable garden area measures approx. 92sqm as scaled from the 
drawings.  As such, the proposed development would provide a poor standard of living for 
the occupiers of no. 28 Tennyson Walk in terms of amenity space.

6.30. The proposal would involve blocking existing windows to bedroom 4 and the stairway at 
no. 28 Tennyson Walk.  However as there is a second window to the bedroom and the 
stairway is a non-habitable area, the loss of natural light, would not have a significant 
adverse impact to the occupiers of that property.

6.31. An area in the front garden is shown on the plans for a bin store.  It is not an ideal location 
so close to the road and would be highly visible in the street scene.  However, in the event 
of an approval a condition could be imposed to show an alternative position for a bin store.

6.32. Overall, the proposed development would provide insufficient residual garden space for no. 
28 Tennyson Walk and would be detrimental to the living conditions of future occupiers.  
As such, the proposal would be detrimental to residential amenity and contrary to Policy 
CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014 and para. 130f of the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2021.

Neighbouring Amenity

6.33. Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014 requires new 
development to the located, designed and constructed to safeguard the amenity, including 
privacy, daylight and sunlight, of surrounding occupiers.

6.34. The closest residential properties to the application site are no. 30 Tennyson Walk 
(adjoining to the east), no. 26 Tennyson Walk (located to the west across Marconi Road), 
nos. 29 to 37 Tennyson Walk (located to the north, across the roadway) and nos. 14 and 
23 Marconi Road (located to the south).  It is noted that local residents, have raised a 
number of concerns relating to the adverse impacts of the proposed development on the 
residential amenity of surrounding occupiers.

6.35. Due to the distance between the properties, their orientation and the design of the 
proposed development, there would no significant adverse overshadowing or overbearing 
impacts to the occupiers of surrounding dwellings.

6.36. In terms of overlooking, due to the distance between the properties (over 21 metres), there 
would be no loss of privacy for nos. 31 to 35 Tennyson Walk from the proposed windows 
in the front elevation of the new dwelling.  

6.37. There would be a privacy distance of some 19 metres from the proposed bathroom 
windows in the rear elevation of the new dwelling, to the two existing first floor bedroom 
windows in the side elevation of no. 14 Marconi Road.  This distance is significantly less 
than the 26 metre minimum privacy distance set out in the Borough Council’s adopted 
Residential Layout Guidelines (RLG) but the overlooking would not be direct and obscure 
glazing would mitigate any adverse overlooking impacts to the occupiers of no. 14 
Marconi Road.  This obscure glazing could be secured by planning condition.

Page 48



6.38. The privacy distance from the proposed ground floor side windows in the new dwelling to 
the windows in the front elevation of no. 26 Tennyson Walk would be only 16 metres.  
Although it is noted that the proposed windows would be obscure glazed and at ground 
floor level.   As such, providing that the obscure glazing was subject to an appropriate 
condition (which would also restrict opening), there would be no adverse overlooking 
impacts to the occupiers of no. 26 Tennyson Walk.   

6.39. Due to the design of the proposed rear extension at no. 28 Tennyson Walk (having no 
windows in the eastern side elevation), there would be no adverse overlooking impacts to 
the occupiers of no. 30 Tennyson Walk.

6.40. The proposed development would increase the amount of residential activity and vehicle 
movements in the surrounding area, potentially causing adverse noise/disturbance 
impacts to surrounding occupiers.  However in this residential environment, it is 
considered that the level of noise/disturbance associated with a single dwelling would not 
be so significant as to warrant the refusal of planning permission.

6.41. Overall, the proposed development would have no adverse impacts on the residential 
amenity of surrounding occupiers and the proposal would be in line with Policy CS19 of 
the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014.

Ecology and Biodiversity

6.42. Paragraph 180 of the NPPF (2021) states that if significant harm to biodiversity resulting 
from a development cannot be avoided, adequately mitigated or as a last resort, 
compensated for, then planning permission should be refused.

6.43. Policy CS12 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014 states that there 
will be no net loss of biodiversity in the Borough and that opportunities to enhance, 
restore, re-create and maintain habitats will be sought within new development.  

6.44. The proposal would result in the loss of part of a vegetated garden, a mature hedge and 
trees but no landscaping details have been provided, which would mitigate these losses.  
However, provided that a suitable landscaping condition is attached to any planning 
permission granted, there would be no net loss of biodiversity at the application site.  

6.45. The application site falls within 6 km of the Thames Estuary and Marshes Special 
Protection Area (SPA), classified in accordance with the European Birds Directive, which 
requires Member States to classify sites that are important for bird species listed on Annex 
1 of the European Directive, which are rare and/or vulnerable in a European context, and 
also sites that form a critically important network for birds on migration.  The area is also 
listed as a Wetland of International Importance under the Ramsar Convention (Ramsar 
Site).  Studies have shown marked declines in key bird species, particularly in areas that 
are busiest with recreational activity.  Research conducted in 2011 found that additional 
dwellings were likely to result in additional recreational activity, causing disturbance to 
protected bird species that over-winter or breed on the SPA and Ramsar Site.  The 
studies found that 75% of recreational visitors to the North Kent coast originate from within 
6 km of the SPA boundary and Ramsar Site.  The impacts of recreational disturbance can 
be such that they affect the status and distribution of key bird species and therefore act 
against the stated conservation objectives of the European Sites.  

6.46. The Borough Council has mitigated the impacts of this on each and every planning 
application for new residential development of one or more units within the 6 km zone 
since September 2015 by (where appropriate) accepting a Strategic Access Mitigation and 
Monitoring Strategy (SAMMS) (tariff) payment (currently £253.83 per dwelling). This 

Page 49



approach is approved by Natural England for all new residential developments.

6.47. For every planning application for a new dwelling (including new flats) which does not 
require any other contributions to be secured through a s106 legal agreement or unilateral 
undertaking, the tariff has been secured through a contribution agreement.  The tariff has 
been accepted effectively in lieu of an Appropriate Assessment (AA) under the Habitat 
Regulations and thus avoiding the need to progress into a full AA.

6.48. However, a more recent Court of Justice European Union (CJEU) ruling means that this 
approach is now no longer valid and although the mitigation measures (in the form of a 
tariff payment) will still need to be made the first stage will be a screening assessment as 
to whether the development either alone or in combination, is likely to have significant 
effects on a designated site without mitigation.  The CJEU sees a distinction between “the 
plan or project” itself and “measures intended to avoid or reduce the harmful effects of a 
plan or project on a European site”. This means that mitigation measures, which are 
intended to avoid or reduce effects, should be assessed within the framework of an AA 
and cannot be taken into account at the screening stage.  

6.49. In this instance, the proposed development would result in the creation of a new dwelling 
and as such, additional recreational activity would result.  No suitable planning obligation 
or bespoke mitigation scheme has been submitted and no tariff payment has been made.  
As such, there would be no mitigation of the impacts of the additional recreational activity 
and the consequent adverse impact on biodiversity.  Therefore, the proposed 
development would be contrary to Policy CS12 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy September 2014 and to paragraph 180 of the NPPF.

Contamination and Climate Change

6.50. Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014 requires new 
development to the located, designed and constructed to avoid adverse environmental 
impacts from pollution and land contamination and to not pose an unacceptable risk or 
harm to the water environment.

6.51. Policy CS18 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014 seeks to ensure 
that the run off from new development has, as a minimum, no greater adverse effect than 
the existing situation and requires the use of Sustainable Drainage Systems where 
feasible.  It also requires new homes to reduce impacts on potable water supply and 
encourages a reduction in carbon footprint.  

6.52. The application site is located in close proximity to Groundwater Source Protection Zone 
Two and would increase the amount of built development and hard surfacing on the land. 
Surface water and foul sewage is proposed to be disposed via the main sewer.  No 
objection has been raised by The Environment Agency but Southern Water suggests that 
surface water should not drain into a foul sewer.  Therefore, an alternative means of 
surface water drainage would be required.  As such, provided that any planning 
permission granted was subject to a drainage condition, it is considered that there would 
be no adverse impacts to groundwater quality or supply or to surface water run-off.

6.53. The proposed development would not include electric vehicle charging points, the 
proposed facing materials and fenestration would not be particularly environmentally 
friendly and there are no details of any specific energy or water saving proposals, which 
would be negative features.  However, if planning permission were to be granted, a 
condition(s) could be attached to ensure that measures to reduce the adverse impacts of 
climate change are secured.

Page 50



6.54. Overall, the proposed development would be broadly in line with Policies CS18 and CS19 
of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014.

Parking and Highways

6.55. It is noted that local residents have raised concerns regarding the parking and highway 
safety impacts of the proposed development.  In particular, they highlight that there is 
excessive on-street parking in the area and that there is inconsiderate parking at the 
junction and over the pavement, both of which would be exacerbated by the proposal and 
that the amount of proposed parking is insufficient.

6.56. The proposed development would create a new two bedroom dwelling, which according to 
the Borough Council’s adopted vehicle parking standards would require a maximum of two 
on-site parking spaces (it is noted that a three bedroom dwelling would require the same 
amount of parking).  Whilst it is noted that the adopted parking requirements are maximum 
standards, in this instance, it would be necessary to provide the full figure.  This is 
because, given the site’s proximity to the junction and the existing on-street parking 
pressures in the area, any on-street parking by residents and visitors associated with the 
new dwelling, would be likely to be detrimental to highway safety.  

6.57. The proposed development would provide two parking spaces for the proposed dwelling on 
a widened driveway, where a pedestrian visibility splay would be provided on the northern 
side.  The southern side of the driveway is an existing situation and due to a low boundary 
wall, already provides good visibility.

6.58. The GBC Highway Development Management Officer has raised no objection to the 
proposed development, as he considers that adequate car parking is provided for both 
parts of the proposal and that there is a gain, due to the provision of a pedestrian visibility 
splay.  As the existing driveway at the application site does not appear to have a dropped 
kerb, he requires that a condition be attached to any planning permission granted to 
ensure that a carriage crossover to the proposed parking area is provided.

6.59. The retained dwelling at no. 28 Tennyson Walk would continue to be a four bedroom 
property and its parking provision would not alter (two spaces on the driveway and a small 
garage).  Local residents have highlighted that the existing driveway is not used and it is 
noted that the garage is of sub-standard size.  Whilst it would be preferable for the existing 
garage to be replaced with one that is larger, as an existing situation, it would be onerous 
for this to be a requirement of any planning permission granted.  As there would be two 
improved off-road parking spaces, the proposed parking provision for the retained dwelling 
would be sufficient.

6.60. The existing garage is proposed to accommodate bicycle storage for no. 28 Tennyson 
Walk and a new bicycle store would be provided for the proposed dwelling.  These 
features would be welcomed.

6.61. Local residents have highlighted that the proposal would generate additional traffic in 
Marconi Road and Tennyson Walk and that the proposed building would have an adverse 
impact on visibility at the junction.  However it is considered that one additional dwelling 
would not result a material increase in vehicle movements and due to its distance from the 
junction, the proposed development would not be detrimental to visibility.  

6.62. Overall, it is considered that the proposed development would not be detrimental to 
highway safety and would be in line with Policy CS11 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy September 2014 and saved Policies T1 and P3 of the Gravesham Local Plan 
First Review November 1994.

Page 51



7. Conclusions

7.1. It is acknowledged that the Council is currently unable to demonstrate a five-year housing 
supply and as the delivery of housing is substantially below (less than 75%) that required 
by the Housing Delivery Test, the housing delivery element of Policy CS02 (LPCS) must 
be regarded to be out of date, as required by the Paragraph 11(d) of the (NPPF) 2021. 

7.2. The proposed development for a net increase of 1no. dwelling would offer a minimal 
contribution towards meeting this local need and delivery and, accordingly, adds limited 
weight in support of the application. 

7.3. However, notwithstanding this, a balanced approach has to be taken and it is considered 
that the adverse impacts of the development would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the (NPPF) 2021 and 
established local policy taken as a whole.  

7.4. In this case the balance is tilted towards refusal for the following reasons:

1. The proposed development, by reason of its form, layout and appearance, would 
constitute the inappropriate development of a residential garden, which would be neither in 
keeping with the surrounding built form or the character of the surrounding street scene.  
As such, the proposal would be contrary to Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy September 2014 and to paragraph 130 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2021).

2. The proposed development, by reason of its insufficient provision of private amenity 
space would provide a poor standard of living for future occupiers.  This would be 
detrimental to residential amenity and be contrary to Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan Core Strategy September 2014, to the Borough Council's adopted Residential Layout 
Guidelines and to paragraph 130(f) of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021).

3. The applicant has failed to provide any ecological evidence to inform a habitat 
regulations assessment covering the impact of the development on the Thames Estuary 
and Marshes Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar Site or offered a financial 
contribution towards mitigation measures to address the impact of the development on the 
SPA/Ramsar site.  The proposal would therefore be contrary to Policy CS12 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014 and to paragraph 180 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021).

______________________________________________________________________________

Recommendation

The recommendation is for the application to REFUSE Planning Permission, for the following 
reasons:

1. The proposed development, by reason of its form, layout and appearance, would constitute 
the inappropriate development of a residential garden, which would be neither in keeping 
with the surrounding built form or the character of the surrounding street scene.  As such, 
the proposal would be contrary to Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
September 2014 and to paragraph 130 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021).

Page 52



2. The proposed development, by reason of its insufficient provision of private amenity space 
would provide a poor standard of living for future occupiers.  This would be detrimental to 
residential amenity and be contrary to Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy September 2014, to the Borough Council's adopted Residential Layout Guidelines 
and to paragraph 130(f) of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021).

3. The applicant has failed to provide any ecological evidence to inform a habitat regulations 
assessment covering the impact of the development on the Thames Estuary and Marshes 
Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar Site or offered a financial contribution towards 
mitigation measures to address the impact of the development on the SPA/Ramsar site.  
The proposal would therefore be contrary to Policy CS12 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy September 2014 and to paragraph 180 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2021).

INFORMATIVES

1. DRAWINGS AND DOCUMENTS

For the avoidance of doubt, the decision to refuse this application was taken in relation to the 
following forms, plans and documents comprising the application:

Application form received 18 May 2021.
Design and Access Statement received 17 May 2021.
Drawing no. 3398/L/01 (OS Plan) received 17 May 2021.
Drawing no. 3398/P/20 (existing and proposed site plan) received 17 May 2021.
Drawing no. 3398/P/02 (existing elevations) received 17 May 2021.
Drawing no. 3398/P/22 (proposed roof plan) received 17 May 2021.
Drawing no. 3398/P/01 (existing floor plans) received 17 May 2021.
Drawing no. 3398/P/21 (proposed floor plans) received 17 May 2021.
Drawing no. 3398/L/02 (existing block plan) received 17 May 2021.
Drawing no. 3398/P/23 (proposed elevations) received 17 May 2021.
Drawing no. 3398/P/24 (proposed elevations) received 17 May 2021.
Drawing no. 3398/P/03 (existing elevations) received 17 May 2021.

2. STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-MAKING

In accordance with Article 35(2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure)(England) Order 2015 and paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework, 
the Local Planning Authority has approached the assessment and determination of this application 
in a positive and proactive manner and, where appropriate, has worked with the applicant to 
secure a development that is sustainable and that improves the economic, social and 
environmental conditions of the area, and that is in accordance with the Development Plan for the 
area. In this instance, the application is contrary to local and national policy.

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting
	5a 20210791 - 6 Sheppy Place, Gravesend DA12 1BT
	5b 20210738 - 93 Rochester Road Gravesend Kent DA12 2HU
	5c 20210634 - 28 Tennyson Walk, Northfleet DA11 8LR

